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the absux:dity of, binding five hundred ~nd fifty .. 
eight men, in cabe ~ dissolution should intervene, 
to decide upon evidence they had not heard .. 

I 

Mr. Fox said, "'In 11is opinion, it was necessary 
to have the evi~cnce printed, not only for those 
to read w 110 did not attend, but for those who 
did attend; for~' .It being' so voluminous, and 
given at so many different times, many parts of 
it, he did not douht, had escaped the memory of 
tho most close att0ndant to the l)usiness; t~re- . 
fore, if there \yas not time to pI'int and decide 
upon it this Session, -it was good reason for 
puttipg it off ...... ·II e declared he had never 
actcd upon the suhject of the flonourahle Baron­
et'R cause as a lVlini8ter, nor would he ever 

attenlpt it. *. The cause 'vas that of aU others 
upon "which every sort of influen~ ouglrt to be 
avoided, and upon which gentlemen ought to act 
with the purest ,freedom and independency, 

* In this rather misgiving speech, it is impossible not to re.ark 

the inconsistency of' the declaratIOn, tlfilt "be hnd nf'ver acted in 
• this cause as a Minister," with a private letter ghen ill l\fr. Fox's 

publis-hed correspondence, in ,,11il'lt he complains' of the little 

IJarlinmfntul'Y influence he lwd l;ccn able to ex~rt upon ~le Bill for 

seruring Sir ThornJ's'llumhol~'s property:' • "'Ve "'CIt: only," he . ' 

says, "36 to 33. The' Attorney.gencral and Solicitor-general 

were both ngalust me; find 1 had the mortification to depend for 

8U~pOtt l1PQU tiie Lord t\dvocate) Jenkinson, llnd M':unsfield.,t 
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taking nQthing for their guiqes but re~Qn, 

candour, audiuslice."* 
"The Solicitor-general said, ht ' had' always 

considered tHe proceedings agahlst Sir Thomas 

Rumbold as, illegal; and he was pretty sure he 
,sh.ould not hf\:ve to change his opinion. He '\vas 
confident that "'hen the day· of trial should 
come, Sir 'l'holnas ltuluhold "would bc honourably 
acquitted; and therefore he could not, for one, 
consent that a Ulan, of ,y hose innocence he was 

thorouglily persuaded, fronl tIle defence. he lutd 
heard, should l)c any 61ol1ger J.~ept under the 

terrors of a restraining Act.'~ 
• 

C)ther nlembers "thong'ht, as the ,vhole of the 
evidence had been heard; and it ,vas now' seen 

Sir Tholnas RiUl11ho]d .had not boen guilty of 

such~nbrlnou~cri1ncs butthat his visihle property 

woultl be able to answer, he ought not to be 
, ,-, 

restrained hy a Bill of pains and penalties, but 

onlY lleld to bail." 
There is one inclclcnt in that' dehate which 

" speaks strongly to the fnet, that Sir Thomas 
• 

R.umbold felt~hinlself rejnstated in the opinion 
• 

of ,those 'who ha(~ not, for their own ptul)oses, 
. . '. . .. 

conspired to mal{'e him a crtlprit. lie knc'W that 

. .. This debate ex'tends fl'om puge983 to 988, vol. xxiii. of the 

Parlillmentnry History. 



. 
PROCEED1NGS IN PARLIAMENT. 27 

when MI!. Burke pursued him so fiercely, it was 

under a sincere in1pl'ession that he was guilty 

of the charges made against hiln; and to Mr .. 
• 

Eurke only he l!OW particularly u(ldres8P,s him-
self. After descriLing in gelleral terms the . 
delay of justice to ,:vhich he had b~en subjected, 

and the ~rue1ty ~1: I)utting the business off for 

another year, "he very affectingly alluded to the 
, 

manner in ,,,"]lic]l 1V1r. Burke had treated him in 

that IIousp, comparing it ,vith the humanity he 

had of late so po"rcrfully pxtcnucd to others, 
Atanding as he stood in the light of persons 

accnse(l o]lly, l)ut not proved cril'ninal." * 
• And Mr. l1ul'ke responded to thc appeal. 

" II n felt extl'cnlC\ly for the honourable Baronet, 
who lutel ShovVll Ul1(,Olnmon fortitude throughout 
the })rogrcss of the -business, and ~lrOa)n ·lti,nselj 
a8 fairly 1!jJon the cal/dou]' of tlte IIouse a~ any 

man could hare done." If any lueaning is to be 
attached to these 'words, :ftlr. Burke, hitherto the 

• 
most strenuou~ supporter ci the l>rosecution, if 

he does not here pronounce his sentence of . • 
acquittal, at lpHst admit~ that his f~]'nler opinions 

were nlueh shaken. Sir Thomas Rumbold had •• • 

Dot pleaded the difficulties of l{is position, or any 
extenuating circumstances; but he absolutely 

.- Messrs I)owell and Bembridge. 
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:t1-ell.led the whole charge, laid ev~ryt,hing· operito 
'the inspection of the public, and maintained' his 
.innocence. On the following day, the :31"d of 

" June, the excessive bail was taken off, and Mr. 
Dundas declared in the House Sir Thomas 

r 

Rumbold was .free to leave the kingdom. 
The accounts froln this tiIne care very slender. 

#' r.:. 

It is mentioned that there w·ere t"ro or more 
adjournments of the subject, before the Bill was 
finally dropped, on the 19th o.fDecenlber, 1783, 
bv a vote of the·llouse. On ·eaeh of these occa .. ., 
sions, it may be infel"r~d, that there was a full 
attendance, since subjects of~ iInportunce eng'aged 
the House before, and imnlediately after, thh 
adjournments. * On one. more occasion the cir­
cumstances of this affair ·were alluded to. In 
the year 178~, a discussion Goncerning the same 
part 'of I.din took place, ·when ~Ir. Burke and 
Yr. Dundas were present. The latter 'referred 

• eUere there seems to be a slight mistake. At the sitting of . 
llecember 19th, 1783, tht change of Mini!'try was annollllced. 

This was the, first matter brought hefore the House. When this 

was over, and in a very thin House, l\h. Lee, the ex-Attorney .. . , 

general, filOvecl that "the further cpll8idel'ution of Sir Thomas 

'R.~mbold1s Bill of I)ains: and PenalJies be deterred to the 24th of 
, • f 

June next." This was carried by twenty-sever. to eight. The , 

effect of this vote 'was to drop the 13ill, the adjournment btlingfor 

more tban "six mouths." -E])ITQR. 



to. Sir Thomas, Rumbold on the question, wh~ch 
was connected with his administration. It is' 
,recorded that, "'on the 28th of February, Mr .. 
Fox brought th«, subject before the Jlouse in.a, 
call for pap.ers, supported by a IJowerful speeyh. 
Mr. Dundas replied at great length, and w~s 

" followed by Sir' 'l'homas R,umbold" formerly 
President of Madras, lvho condemned the decision 
of the Board in brief but energ·etic terms." 

Mr. Burke commented upon the remarkabl~ 
spectacle before them. " The rtght honourable 
gelltlelnan," Mr. Burke ~aid, "whose conduct is 
no,v in question, (~Ir. Dundas,) formerlY'stooq. 
forth in this House the prosecutor of the worthy 
Baronet who spoke last.. lIe charged him with 
several grievpus acts of lllalversation in office; 
with abusies of a p'ublic trust of, a gr&'l:,t .. and 
heinous nature. In less than t,vo yei!"s we see 
the situation of parties reversed, and a singular 
revolution l)uts the worthy Baronet in a fair way 
of returning the prosecution in a recriminatory 
Bill of Pains and 'penalti:s, grounded on a 
breach of public trust, relative to the very same 
part of India. If he sliould undertake a-Eill of 
that kind, he ~iU fi.p.d no difliClHty in conducting 

it with. 'a degree of skill and vigour fully equal 

tocrfiU th~t have been exerted against him." 
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In this, and in the, foHo\ving paragraphs' ~:of 
this celebrated speech, the ol)ject of the speaker 

. is rather to contrast "the difference of deport:.. 

Inent between these t\VO gent\pn<len, under the 
same unhappy circtunstances," than to eulog~ize 
Sir 'l'homas ltunlbold, further than by a passing 
tribute to his -abilities; but th(~e observations of 
Mr. Burke entirely repel the Idea 'which has been 

ineulcatod, that the former' proceedings in that 
IIouse against Sir Thomas Ilurnhold, although 
abandoned, had-left him with a tarnishe<i repu­

tation, since }VIr. Burke.eould not in such a case, 
even by ,yay of hypothesi~, haye ventured to 
place hirn in the position \dlich J\{r. l)undas 
then held. 

But in this s})cech of l\Ir. 13urkc. there is also 
t.esti.mony to the fact, that SJr rrhonlas. RUUlhold 

had courted tho fullest inquiry then, as. on every 

occasion from first to last. It lllUY be seen by 

reference to the Parliamentary Del)ates, * that he 
"' 

did, ll'l"hen the suhjeet of Indian atf'airs ,vas under 
discussion, and bJfore any accusations 'were 
framed against him~ urge a thorough invf)stiga,... 
tion and inquiry, \vhicli h9 wislu~d should date 

from the".year 1772, and @whracD: of c~)urse, the • • • 
period of his aruninistratioll; and that, on this 

* Parliamentary History, vol. xxii., p. 122. 
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last occasion, in 1785, he advocated the"produo ... 
tion of papers relating to the transactions then 
under consideration, in which he had been inti­
nlBttely concerr&d.* 

It is not, however, what Mr. Fox may have 
said, or what Mr. Burke Inay have- said, or a 
verdict of either .House of' Parlianlent, that 
can prevail in afte"~-times to efface t he stain 
thrown upon the character of Sir Thomas ltum ... 
bold, since all this might stiU be· ascribed 
to party influence, or other causes .. There are 
sufficient instances to shovv that the question in 
such cases remains a~ open one. 

It is to the evidence produced at the Bar of the 
House of Cornmons that. appeal is now made. 

In the last debate upon Sir Thomas I{um-. 
bold's restraining pill, the q uy:;tion • b~ing 
whether this Bill, of vvhich the tilue had, ex .. 

. .~ 

ph'ed, should be ,renewed and prolonged through 
another Session, or in the event of' a dissolution 
of'I>arliament, the difficulty was urged of bindihg 
a~ assembly of five hundred l~en by proceedings 
to whi<;h they had been no poo·ty, or to vote upon 

• A further extract is given iIi (I. Supplementary NoVe to this . 
volume from the t.u'i.ble amI .nul.gnifJ\.(>u •• s·peech of Burke, to 

:which refei'ence is mude in 'th~ text. Ii'rolll this it will be seen 

!~ow well the argument in the text i~ sustamcd by the scope of the 

speetth. 
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evidence they had not,heard. Mr. Burke repli~dl 
. . . \ 

"That the evidence being. on record, anyperspn 
who read it would be as competent to prollOunce 
judgment upon'it as those wh«" h~ard it.'" 

This evidence is still open to all, and rnust 
bring convIction to the mind of any person "who 

,. 
\Yill investigate it, that it "was neither owing' to 
~'the influence of party," n01' tv "the in~uffici,ent 
attendance of 1ne1nbers," nor'w'as it that" J\rIr. 
Dundas was bribed," or that a,ny of the different 
surmises to ,vhich the Inalice of' di!';,"tpp~illted 

enemies had recourse ·,vas true, hut simply he .. 
cause the charges "rere 90111pletely disproved, 
that the prosecution vvas abandoned. 

If the mann cr of tht:: ]]i11 being dropped had 
been unsatisfactory at the tiU1C,. or, it should 

rat,her be ~'l.id, had the ~politieal ",party who 
wished ~o devote him seen a pretext left to 
enalJle them to persevere, 'vhy was the matter 
suffered to rest there? Sir 'l:'homas RUlnbold 
continued in I>arliament unt.i11ii.s death. During 
that interval the tllouse did not lose sight of 

Indian r.ffairs, and l lIr. l~ox's Bill succeeded to 
that of Mr. Dundas.*' 

• It appears, in 'n;c Journals' of' the i-Iouse, tlH1t II vote was 

p.tsscd to pay the costs of the l~ill. The names of ~{r. Duudus
J 

lIr. Dempster, and Mr. Burke arc al~oug those 011 the Committee. 
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. " ~ . . 

THECHA:R~S "AGAINST SIR THOMAS R.UMBOLD. . ' '. 
, THE, object of this ,vindication is to make a 
reply to the historians in general, 'and to .the 

"Parliamentary J."teports of the tJommitte~ of 
Secrecy," from wlticJh some of these historians 

have dra'wn, and others may in future draw, 
their information. ' 

It will, however, be well to enumerate the 
charges that were Inade. in "the Bill of Pains 
and Penalties," whic~l did not adopt all that are 
to be roullcl in the " Reports." 

, '1'he order of tile charges is here altered, 
chiefly in this respect,-' that the last urge~ in 

the Bill, ~nd' replie~l to in the dejcncp., is' ~ere 
placed at the head of the list. rrhey ma~ he 
stated as follows:- ' I 

1st. The remittances made by Sir Thomas 
Rumbold to England were considered as proofs 

0f, a corrupt acquisition of hi~ fortune. 

2nd: Charges ,vere brougil.t against' hi~ re· 
, lative to his supposed .influence ovef his C~uncil, 
, "or to theefl'ect ·that be acted independently oj 

them. 
,,3rd. Charges were founded on the facts, tha.t 

D 
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, trlt.~?t1()lb.mittee"ofCircllitwMsuspendedb' the 
(lriuncilof' Ma:dras, and the. Zemindars called \.to 
theI>l'esidency to settle their tribute there; an.d 
3l.sorelating to the treatment of tha,'ViziaDftgrum 
,family at Madras. 

4th. '-rhe extension of the lease of the J aghire 
lands to the Nabob 'of Arcot was an article in 
the Bill. 

5th. The suppression of Mr. Sadlier's letter to 
Sir Thomas 'Iiumbold, accusing the subordinates 
of con-upt pra.ctices, was another count of the 
indictw,ent. 

6th. It was alleged that tl~e Council of Madras 
treated with' Bazalet Jung, for the cession of. the 
Guntoor CircaI' to the Company, without the . 
consent of the Nizam, and that Sir Thomas 
Ru~bQld mejnt to conceal .this affair., from the 
Nizf\m. 

7th. 'fhat offence 'was given to IIyder Ali by the 
march of the troops over I)art of his dominions. 

"8th. It \vas made a charge against Sir Thomas 
Rumbold that he tolicited, through his ambas­
sador, a remission or abatcment of the tribute 

• 
whic4 "the Company had ,bound thcmselves to 
pa,y for the N orthern Circ~rs. . . . .. 

9th. The recal of Mr. Hollond from his em.. 
bassy was a matter of complaint. 
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10th. The unprepared I state of the -(Jarnatic, 
at the tUne when Hyder A.li began the war, was 
made a charge against Sir Thomas Rumbold. 

These mayestand as the definite hell,ds ofaccll:" 
sation, after stripping away the invective whioh. 
swells the .charges to a great Jeng-tli. There&re 
perpetual. insinuations of conceatment ascribed 
to Sir Thomas Rumbold, but they will be found 

'frivolous 'and self-contradictory; the prinoipal 
of these will be noticed when treating the cases 
to which they were applied .. The last charge, 
"The unpreIJared state of the Carnatic," was 
abandoned by the C9unsel for. the Bill; 'and also 
a charge of "breach of covenant," for having 
not declared the proper~y he possessed in Bengal, 
was withdrawn. 

I.~THE CHA"RGE OF' CORRU'TION 

We proceed now to the charge of corruption 
grounded upon t~e fact that Sir Thomas Rum­
bold remitted large sums to England. * 

... From the year 1760 until 1772, "ir Thoma~ Rumbold had, 

large commercial dealings with Bengal~ 

In the Resolutions laid before the House of Qommons, the sum . . 

sf"ted tohnve been remitted is £160,1)00. Sir Thomas Rumbold 
" ". 

declared ts> the Directors th~t he had remittea £167,000, uf which 

8um.£88;OOO~as o:n aCCOUI\t of other people. It may be observed, 

. in the Seoond Report of the COJIlmittee of Secrecy, App,,' ~o.66~ 

D 2 
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Although there was: not one direct charge on 

that scorc, a suspicion of corrupt motives was 
attached to every act of his administration. It 
is proposed to rel'ute this generat s'hspicion, first, 
by a statement of tho proofs adduced at the bar 
of the House of Comlnons, to the effect that at , 
the time Sir r:rhOlUUS ltun1bold", left l~ngland he 
was l)o~scssed of property in (l1engal to a larger 

alllount than the SUllls he l'enlittcu during the 
time he was G ovel'nor of J\Iadra,s, and that these 

sums were actually drawn from ]3eno'ul· and ./' b' , 

secondly, by showing that the Incasures to which 
a suspicion of eorru pt infl u9nce was particular] y 
attacheu!I ·were in themsel \res equitable; that 

they ,vore demanded by ~he Cil'CUlnstances of' the 

case; and, llloreover, that they wel'~ followed by 

benyfic5.al l'e~l.lts to the Co.mpany and to the 
country. 

The early remittances, * upon which nluch 

al!o Evidence!:!, p. ] 70, thut the dccounts s~ow four sums, spe­

cified as sent from othrr p6rsons, which, when Sir Hector Munro's 

portion is added, nmount to £35,000. 
<, 

.. Of these eU:ly remittances, £10,572 (so paid in England) 
• belonged to Sir Hector Muuro.-.E\>·idcnccs, p. 529. In the . ( 

Report of the Committee, and in .the. Bill; this !<tUn is~ stated as 

proved to have been £466.-Supplemcntul App., Second Report, 

No.2. 
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stress WO,S lai<:l; '1Vere in specie, and sent by· ships . , 

of the Company. It was of these only that the 
Directors had cognizance; the remaining sums 
were sent by ~il~, and were declared to them ,by 

Sir '~rhomas R,umbold himself. Iml:t1ediatelyon 

his return, in 1781, when he fOUIld the money 
he had remitted "'!1S made a ground of suspicion . , 

against him, he hast€l1ed to deliver to the Court 
of Directors, and to the CommittRe, a duplicate 
account, which had been left in England, an'a 
"which showed hiln to have been possessed of thiSl 
property in Bengal, in the securities of t~e Com:\) 
pany, and that it was bearing interest at the 
,time of his departure to assume the government 
of Madras.* 

The papera, also, which he delivered to the 
Committee~ showed that his desire-hav ing been 
to remit this money to England, an engagement 
,had been concluded before his arrival in India, 
"which obliged him to send, by way of China, a 

. '. large ,sum before a specifi.ed \ime, or a consider-
able forfeiture of per-centage would h~ve been 
incurred. 

It is impossible not to remark how surely it , '. 

"vould bave been in .th~ power of the Directors, 
when thus challeng.9d by Sir Thomas' Rum hold~ 

• Se~ond Repot:,t, Committtle of Secrecy, No. 66. 
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b~.fore he was accused in 'form, .. had truth I:.boon 
I· .. , ,," "'. ' 

~heir 'object, to have verified,or disproved," this 
statement; it would appear, ho~~ver, that they 
did admit the facts, since they grounded upon 
'them the charge of a breach of the'ceveriant 
which requiri)d the servants of the Company to 
declare, ~pon their arrival in Jndia, to the Board, 
''all:Y stock-in-trade, or loans, in which they 
mig4t be concerned with the ,country powers." 

Sir Thomas Rumbold had. not any property 

which could accord with tha~ description; but 
the' terms 01: the covenant were altered in pass­
ing through the Committee, with a view to 
criminate him. A comparison with the original 
covenant sho'ws clearly the difference between; 
the real obligation and the view of! it held out to 
the public Yn the Report- of the Committee, 
where the limitation of the kind of loans he was • 
bound to declare is omitted. * 
t) It was also an averment in the Bill, '/th&t the 
failure of Sir, Thomas Ruml)old to declare the 
clebtsthat were 0"1ng to him was aggrayated by 
the circum~tance that no penalty was attached 
to the povenaut;" whet'eas it was, in fact, 

.. • .4.. ' 

~arded by a penalty of £50,000. t 
• Second Report, Committee of Se.crecy, p. 281. 

tMr. Hardinge's Defence of Sir Thomas Rumbqld. p.2la, 



This charge of breach !of covenant is not re­
butted in the ~videDce for the defence, since it 
was among many articles of tIle Bill which it 
was found tet!essary for the prosecution to 

abandon; but it remains in the Parliamentary 
• 

Re~port of the Committee, and !s accordingly 
brought prolnill~ntly forward in Mr. Mill's 

• History. 
Another charge was made in the Report. 

The remittances, it was alleged, were effected 
secretly; "for they were not inserted in the 
boatswain's books." This was also an aban .. 
doned article, no evidence being attempted to 
prove that articles of private remittance were 
insprted in the l)oatsw;lin's books, though this 
was boldly ~sserted in tho Report. It may be 
renlarked/ that where the examinatioll' of t.he' 
Captain of the ship is given in the Report, the 
on1y material part of his evidence not cited tl/ere,_ 
but wldeh is to be found in tile Appm'j,di:c, was, 

that "such omissions were s~ very frequent, that 
he did not, even inquire why this wa~ not en­
tered)' * And, further, thai" those entries were 

I • 

the business of the officer in command- at tIle 
tjme, and the person -to whom' the property be .. 

longed could not know anything about it. If no 
.. Seaona Report, App., No. 63. 
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entry were made, the Captain. had t?e whole . 

• profit of the freig'ht. In JJublic cases. the ol)lig-a .. 

tion of entry was enforced." * 
If \ve turn to the Minutes 0' Evidence, pagfl~ 

518--532, it 'will be seen that there was this 
• 

corroborative ,tcstirnony in fayou"t· of Sir TltOlnnS 

Rumhold :-tll0 existence oft the property in , 
Bongal 'was known to his agents in Eng'land; 
and also, previously to his departure, he h~ll 

instructed his agent in Bengal to· collect h~s 

property in that province, antI remit it to hinl 
at Madras. rl'he reason that this property had 

remained in Bengal 'was aJso explained by this 

circumstanc(', that the el13Jlnel for rcnlittance 
by Oompany'-; cash had l)ecn clos('d, and tIle 

agents hud heen enjoined to en1ploy no other 
moue. l But ~the absolute proofs' rest upon the 

bankers' accounts of the SUlns rcnlitted l)y thf'm 
to }fadras, (n~ direct to England; and also upon 

the agreemp'Ilt of the stutenlcnt given by Sjr 
• 

Thomas Runlbold ~f the whole" nmOllnt of his 
prop erty 1 at t!lat h01W, (inchlding picturps, 
plate, and eyery article, of value, in allY part of' 
the world,) with wllut it ,vas proved to have 

. ;l 

\ been, by' his' agents, in' the . years 1 ~73 and 

1777, upon his last drparture from England. 

'* Sec Evidences, p. 529 
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This sta;tAtnent Sir ThomRs Rumbold had been 
required'to' giv~ upon o~th; and if he should 

, . '. ' 
be found in error £500, he ,vas perjured, and 
his 'wholeprcfpetty confiscate4 at the mercy ' of 
an informer, or, it was said in the House. " on 
pain of death." 

The' proofs V{el'~ in order as follows :-. ' ' 

"The counsel for Sir Thomas Rumbold stated, 
that they should next proceed to the allegations 
of the Bill with respect to the renlittances made 
by Sir Thomas Itumbold to Englancl; and that 
they should on his part admit that, during the 
time of his being last in India, he had remitted, 
on his own account, the sum of £130,000; but 

that, in fact, he had more property than to that 
amount befoI:e he ,vent out." ............ .. 

"The Oounsel than IJroposed to ~al1 the clerk, 
&c., "rho had the management of Sir Thomas 
Rumbold's accounts from the year 1769. This 
was objected to by the Counsel for the Bill, and 

. " 
then all the Counsel were d~~ected to withdra.,v, 
and they were again called in, and the Counsel 
for Sir Thomas TtU:inbold directed to proceed." . 

r .' 

, .After, the evidence hb:d been given "by the. 
'agents .in Bcng~, and. in Englait'd, of the amount " 
of property since the year 1769 to that hou:r, 

... ~~vidences, p. 513. 
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'u1;~,<,~ounselstated they would, show wbat had 
. . . ' . . , 

'beellremitted on Sir Thomas Rumbold's account 
• • 

from Bengal in the years 1778, 1779, and 1780~H 
'~pese sevel:al ao.counts current f,cing brought 
.;up and verif}.ed as the handwriting of the agent 
,in Bengal, Fere read. (See Evid.ences, pp. 
518-532.) TIle Public Treasu:l'er of l\Iadras was 

• 
then called to reckon these accounts, and tum 
them into English money. It will be found that 
these several sums, with the addition of two 
bills, amounting together to £15,570, proved to 
have been l)aid, one in Bengal, and remitted to 
Madras; the other, which had borne interest since 
the year 1769, sent direct from Bengal to Eng­
land; make up (exclusively of the share belonging 
to Sir Hecto~ ~funro, and the SUlliS specified as 
sent fot othc~people) £98,lg3. 

It- was adluitted that £49,000 had been paid to 

.the Governor for salary, com.mission, &c., and 
1)ilso that he had received £2,283 for the useo! 

• 
his..,town and countiY house, and for I)late, and 
that his (f~lrriages and wines }u1d been ,sent to 
bim. from Enpland.· _ 
. Mr.-M.ill has. made S01110 ol)~erv~tior}.s upon 
~he money that had rematned in Bengal, a,s stated 
in . the. Appendix to the Second Report~ 'of -the 
';Commission of Secrecy, (N 0.' 66,) :which. he 
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~ . . 
describes as very near the a1D:0unt Jtfterwards 
proved at the ~8r oltha :Houseof Commons.· . , 

ProfessqrWilson has here inserted a note, in 
which he declares "these particulars to bE 

f) ,., 

~oosely and inaccur;ttely stated," and has made 8 

calculation of his own of these accounts~ in the 
IJlaceof that declared at the Bar Qf the Hous~ of 
Commons, and td~lled into English money before 

vigilant lookers on. In this calcu]ation Professor 
Wilson has made a mistake, but his remarks 

are useful, as they serve to bring this portion of 
the defence into a small compass. He admits it 
to be "proved that ,Sir Thomas Rumbold had 
property in Bengal, in the beginning of the year 
1773, to the amount of £121,000." He admits 
,it to be proved that no· addition to his property 
in England" between that time and 1779, had 
• 

been made. But he questions ~he inference 
that no renlittanees could have been effect,ed. 
Professor Wilson thro,ys a doubt upon the as~ 

. sumption that this property to the same alnoupt 
still existed in Bengal, hecaufJ£, he says, "in 1773 
it had been delivered over ttl other agents, and 
because it may be observed, that <) Sir Thomas 

;) 

... It may be obs~ved, th~ ,: interest of. these different sums 

varied from five to six U!ld eight per cent., and was nevei' hig-lie!' 
t'hnn ten. 
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::J1"gm961d'El,8oponnt current with his banker,dateQ. 
_ch,1'7'78, opens with' but a s'lD;all sum,whic~ .' :added to moneys paid on account of sums lent, 

~8nlounts to something more than £40,000. It 
is .also in evidence that he recei;'ed £49,000 
salary. Ther~ renlains a considerable. suru to be 

-'accounted for, to explain the large amount of his 
remittances to England." 

W,hat this amount 'was proved to be, and what 
.:.sumthe Bill, in consequence, required Sir Thomas 
-Rumbold to justify, Professor W"ilson does not 
seem to have informed himself; but in his calcu­
lation he has 'overlooked one al~ticle, which shoy,'s 
an earlier date than he has assigned, and proves 
,also that it belongs nof to the open,ing, Q1d the 

continuation, of an ({qco~,tnt. 'fhis article is the 
agent's commission upon sums rCll1itted from , . 
Beng&l fo J\ialtras, dated from November, 1777, 
'whicli shows an amount of £ ":t8,OOO. This 
article proves also that there 1verebonds still 
~ring interest, and of which the interest only 
had the11: passed ~nt<»thc agent's hands. 

That this account was fragmentary was explained 
by the~ircu1l1stance ·tha~ the ship (the" General 
llarker") ~n~whi~~ SirThomas llu;uboldreturned, 
was wrecked upon the coast; and many of his book~ _ 
and pa.pers were lost. Happily some accounts 
were saved, and these did enable the Counsel to 
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justify with accuracy the: sums remitted. Pro .. 
fessor Wilson's doubts are unsupported. Against 

Sir Thomas Rumbold's statements not a tittle of 

ev-idcnce can \ie /lbroug-ht; ,vhile they are abun­
dantly corroborated hy all the cviuence of which 

the case admi tted~ 

'fhe foregoing ~tatements have ,>een made as 
l)l'iefiy as possiblo." It rcmains to show, undet 
thc charge of corruption, that Sir rrhomas 
RUlllhold's adnlinistration of the public funds 
('un he vindicated by proofs ·which place it 
h(\yOlld the reach of' all suspicion. 

An increase of' revenue was paid into the 
treasury from the N brthprn Circars, during Sir 

'I'honlas llulubold's government, of £228,900; * 
and all average increas'e of £111,500 for each 
year, for h~nds rented by the N aboh of Arcot. 

, " ~ 
Also, accounts were 'produced at the Bar of" the 
IIouse by the Puulie Treasurer, showing' the 

amount in the treasury, at different epochs, at 

Madras and at the subordinate stations, and the 
expenditure respectively, b~fore and after the 
military expeditions set on fqot. 

It ",:as soon after the siege of PondicherlY that 
Sir Eyre Coote tkrrived at )f adr~s, and, took his 

41 

seat at the Boartl for' some months before he 

* EvideIlc\~s) p. 245. Ibid" p. 829. 
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proceeded to Oalcutt~. The President proftt8d . ~ , 
by this occasion to request his pnrticular atten~ 
tion to the state of the tr~asury, and the extreme 
difficulties with which they h~d.to contend, in 
obtaining supplies from the Nabob of Arcot and 
the Rajah tlf Tanjore; and he strongly urged, 
at that early period, tl1e adoption of the plan 
which was uftcflvards carried,. out by Lord 1\1a­
cartney, that the Nabob should assign some 
portion of the revenues of the Carnatic towards 
the support of the military force, which he, the 
President, declared to ue on a larger scale than 
the r~sources of the prcsid~ncy could maintain, 
"in order that Sir Eyre Coote might, wllen he 
should take his plaee at the Council General of 
Bengal, make such rei>rcscntations as should 
obtain the sUD110rt and assistance of that Board, 

. ~'.. . . 
in the measures necessary to be adollted for the . 
preservation of the Carnatic." Letters to this 
effect were also addressed to the Governor-Gene­
ral and to the Directors. Some extracts. of' , 

these are given, atd also of Sir Eyre Coote's 
letters and minutes at the end of thc volume. 
In cOllJ'equcnce of Sir- Eyre Coote's representa­
ti~n$ at. Bengal, the .. Goverut>r .. General and 
Cfluncil granted to Madfas a supply of fifteen 
lacs of rupees, of which ten were sent, and five . 



p,fQmised, ... but sl1bsequen1i+yw1tbhel~. -On tl1i$ 
occa,;sion,of grnnting the supply the'Governor __ 
General had required of the Presidency a.stl"i.ct 
account of thelt past receipts and disbursements, 
and their .liabilities for the ensuing year.. This 
requirement had been as strictly complied w.ithJ 
and a,lso the claims they would have to meet 

f 

were stated, among,vhjch, it may be observed, 
mention is made of the tribute due to the Nizam 
of the Deccan for the Northern Circars, which 
had fallen into arrears before Sir Thomas R,UIU.., 

" 

bold took charge of the Presidency. * 
2.-INFLUENCE OVER THE 130ARD. 

The unanimity of the. Board in passing those 
measures 'which the Dit~ectors sought to repre ... 
sent as corruptly obtained by the President, . . 
thre'w B01TIC difficulty in the ,vay oi Sit' Thop.1as 
Itum1Jold's accusers. This it appears they 
obviated by putting forth a false and groundless 
aecusation, which "ras imposed upon the' Com­
mi~ee, ,vho were jgnorant ~f the rules of tlle 
COlupany's selvice. 'rhe slightest observation 
is sufficient to refute this aceusation. 

It is' b9rro\ved by Mr. J\fiU,' ana. introduces 
the subject oftiie d~alj,ngs witli ·the Zemindars" 

• [Evidences, pp. 208, (No. 164.) 370, (No. 420;) 371,415, (No.' 

404.).4l8, (:\'0. 40t1,) 419, (No. 400,) 464, (No.446)-En.]See 

1I1so Appendji fl, nt: the end ofthe Voluuw. 
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":(n every case the <?overllor alone negoci.ated 

with the Zemindars, and regulated their pay­
ments i in no case did he lay the grounds of ~is 
treaty before the Council; in e(JTcry case the 
Council without inquiry acquiesced in his 
decrees." 

On this chttrgc very full testimony ·was givpn, 
by four persons high in the ~ervice of the COIn­
pany, at Madras and Bengal, to the fact, that 
"all business ,,"'ith the country powers, was in 

the first instance done by the Go"er.nor. It ·was 
with him alone that they had personal cOilllnuni­
cation. lIe reported to the Board the progress 

of t~e treaty, or matter of l)usiness under con­
sideration, giving ",neh p\:p]anation as the Roard 

might think proper to can for." * But, if we 

ope~ 91e A81H:ndiccs to ~he Repor.ts, it will 
plaj~ly appear that" tbe Gov(\rnor," here spoken 

of, did not adhere tQ this regulation of the 
service, but acted in most cases in conjunction 

with the Board; und in the case of the Zemindpr~, 
upon which l\'fr. 1\Iill immediately dW'clls, he 

hhnself quotes th~ ",vards of "the President," 

addressed to the l{ujuh, where he speak; of " the 

instances of the ]3 oar <1, repea:b.:dly made, cqn­

junctively, as ·well as sep~rately." And further, 

.. See Evidrnres, pp. 237) 295, 29H. 
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when the r~concili;ttion between tho Rajahs had 
taken place, the President referred them, on the 
question of an increase of tribute, to the Board 

• independently, declaring himself not wholly 
satisfied with the terms he had been able to 
obtain. * 

* Se"ond Report, Appelldix, ~o. 51, p. 385. 
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THE THIRD CHARGE : RELATING TO THE SUSPENSION OF 
THE COMMITTEE OF CIRCUIT, THE SIHIMONING t OF' THE 
ZEMINDARS TO MADRAS, AND, IN rARTICULAR, 'rHE 
TREATMENT OF THE VIZIANAGUUM E'A1\IILY. 

STILL further to refute the suspicions of 
corrupt motives, thrown upon the conduct of 
Sir Thomas ltumhold, it shall nOV\T be shown 
that'the measures to 'which those suspicions . , 

were attached were equitable, and beneficial 
in their results. Of these, the chief, ancl 

those chiefly in questiun, were the suspension 
of the CommitteA of Circuit, and calling the 
,Zemi,ndars (to the presidency, to treat 'with them 
there. ' 

This subject, which is classed under Charge 
No.3, co;mprises the treatment of the Viziana-

cgrum family, and also necessarily the suspicion 
that it was sou~ht. to cast upon Sir 'l'1hoIIlas 

Rumbold, of bcillg concerned in the intrigues of 
his, Secretary, Mr. ltedhead. 

The'measu1;e now in question was successful in 
• 

conciliating the Zernindars, who were con1bini:ng, 
to resist the Committee of Circuit, to an innova .. ' 

* Evidcnccs, p. 318. 
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* • 
tion that al~rmp.qand was ' altogether obnoxious 

to them ; their allegiance was secured during the 
very critical I>er~od that .fol~owed, 'and where the 
revenue had totally failed froIn the Northern 
Circars, it ,:vas obtained, and was found·a fruitful 
resource, during th.e war . 

• When Sir 'I'holllJ1S Rumbold arrived at 
Madras, he was met 'by accounts of the dis­
tressed condition of theZcmindarics. He then 
asked. for three weeks in which to possess him­
self of the subject. On the 24th of March, 
,vhen he declarpd his views to the Council, the 
situation in general of the Northern Circars was 
this :-l\.buses had been committed by the Ohief 
and Cuuncil of the subordinate governments; a 
total failure of revenue had been incurred; the 
Z'eminuars were embai-rassed with ~ebts,' and 
almost insolvent; they had many dissensions 
am,ong themselves; they ·were become ,jealous 
of the Government, and the innovation of the, 

Committee of Circuit had inflan\ed that jealousy 
to a state bordering upon disaffection. * 

• 
The President reasoned thus :-" Were the . . 

suhordinates, or t~ Council of Madras, fttte .... , at 
. . 

• . . 
.. TheZemindars of 'Masulipatam alone owed upwa~o.s of' 

.u~'8,OOO, including debts to their bankers, for which they paid 

interest CJ' two mid a half pel' ce;lt. a month. 

E 2 
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this period of distress and approaching \far, to 
lnake the new arrangenlent of trihute? What 
l)}pugc have ,ve that the suhord~nntes, wllo have 
givell lJirth to these diiJi('ttlti('~, "jll extricate 
tlu") COJlIlmllY frOll1 thelll p ,Ve Inust guard 

ag'uiust thc.3e PIlorlllOUS hulall('C'''; hnt fil'~t let 
" f . 

U8 ascertain thell1. Let us hear tho Zerninrlal', 
and 1'8111'c8s tho jnjul'io~ he has rpceived. 'rho 

I,Ian we adopt "rill give thou) confidence to 
appeal, in case of gl'jevances and oppression, to 

the trihunal the 1110Bt :v1e'1 unte to redress the111." 
The attcn<1an('(\ of t11(-' Zelnindars at 1\{adras, 

in RorrlO respects inl'ligihlp in itself, was thc 

nerf'fo,~al'y I)(11't of a ,~ysteln; hnt it rll ~o turned 
out in th(, ('yent of iJeculiar advantage. 'rhcir 
incyHalJle ftay at Mttcll'a~, until ·after the fall of 
POlldicherl'Y lnnda thp111 ·hostao'cs f~r the alle~-

• L , b 1:1 

au('e of tl'cir o,vn Governlnents; aud they not 

only continued in peace, hut 1VCl'C found a liberal 
.resource of lllilital'Y supply, of uetivc servic>o, and 

revenue. * 
tf: III the few ob'lcryatiolls J)rofessor 'Nilson has made upon the 

Minutes of Ow Evid('nee, IV~ makc'l this lIlention of the cirenm-... 
stances attclldiu!! the rcconclhatlOn of the two Northern Zcrniudars : 

~ . ~ 

....-" As Vizieram 'was rLildle<:.s',. hi,:, adoption 0[ 1m Ilephew was ill 

stlict coufol'mity to the Ilmdu l.nv; the Council of Mauratl could 

not choose hut concur iu it. 

"That the reconciliation of tIl(' brothers, howc,'~er enfovreeu, was 
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The .([il:.1tances froin which.the Zemindars came 

are unfairly stated in the "Report." Gangam 
and Vizaga})ntam alone arc lllentioned. FrOlll 

the fOrlTIer, tho·poorest and the most I'cmoie of 

the ZClnindars, none were requirc'd to attend; 
• 

from Vizagnpatam, five hundred miles distant, 
• Vjzioranl Raz on1:\- eame, and ,vith his fI'e~ 

<-

ass~nt. 

miles. 

'rho average dj~Llnco was tIn'pc Inlndrcd 

At the tilue of these transactions, Vizieram 

permanent and produrtive of good effects, WClS satioJactol'ily shown 

by the resultb. It was effpctcd in July, 1778. The Chief of 

Vizngapatnm, Mr. Casamajor, from JUlle, 1780, to March, 1782, 

df'poses that during Llmt period, the brothers lived ill harmony, 

f.,ittcram being Duan; that the revenues were improvpd and reguo 

larly paid; and that they could not have bcen received at all, if . 
the brothers hac.!. been at variance. 'Yhatevt;t', thcrefOle, the 

tdllcemcnts may have been/' (Professor 'Vilson adds,) "thi~ 
tl',ulsaction did not desen:p the censure which has been ~nst , 

uron it." 

It is further ill ('videnre, that at a meeting of the TIoard, Sep­

tember, 1781, (Lord )faeartm'y, l)lesid(~t,) it was determined: 

that no rhunge should he made ill that CIrCaI', aud that perfect 

harmony subsisted between the Rajahs. L~tters to Lord Macartney 

are given from the Chief and CouIlCil wherein it. is mentioned, 
• 

that all endeavours to .. obtaiu loans from tl)e bankers or indi-

viduals had failed, and their- on'y dependen~e was the ample 

supplies they were enabled \0 send from the Vizianagrum family.-­

Minutes of Evideltce, pp. 2~1, 275. 
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Raz had- not very :tong been, of age. He was 
indolent and easily governed. By intrigues in. 
the family he liad become Rajah of this powerful 

district, in prejudice to Sittefanl, ~is eldest 
brother by SOlne years, (contrary to,vhat has. 

been asserted,) "rho resisted for a time, . but 
r 

submitted upon terrns. k 801e11111 agreement 
, 

was made that SitteraUl should 1Je tho Duan, or 
first nLinister of his brother, while to Vizieram 
,should he reserved the name and parade of the . 
superlor. 

]'or sixteen yea~'$ Sitteram had acted as the 
faithful steward of his brother. Shortly before 
the period of '\vhieh ,ve have now to speak, a 

competitor, originally.in the confidence of hoth· 
brothers, had usurped the office" and succeede~~ 

,.~ 

in pt>isonii~g the mind ,of the weak young. 
brother against hiul, though never, it appears, 
destroying the nlutual affection that had sub .. 

sisted between thern. The consequences of their 
"'dissensions had (~alle(l the trooI)s of the Com.­

pany into the field, and occasioned a total stop­
page of the reven$ae. 'fho Inean8 adopted by the 

'. . Presiden t, when all pC'l'suasion had failed;, to . ~ 

reconcile Viiieram to. his Inother, 'were very 

simple. He found that the favourecl Duan (or' 
Steward) had been a defaulter to his mastBr' and, 



the Company to the amount of £94,000.· In 
d. . 

a meeting of the -Board, the President proposed 
th~t he should be sent to Vizngapatam, to bring 
his accounts f<ft- inspection at Madras. When 
.the influence of this man was removed, the 
reconciliation of the brothers quickly followed. 
They had engaged £.ir his debt to tlie CompanYl 
but did not receiv~ frulu him a rupee. In 
solvency Dud flight terminated his career. t 

*" Evidences, pp. 56-60. 

t This is the story, ~tatecl as briefly as possible, which :Mr. 
Mill has recorded for all posterity, quoting the words of the 

Directors, tllat "their -surprise and concern were great at the 

unwarrantable manner in which the l">residency appointed the 

intrip,uing and ambitious Sitteram Duan of the Circar, and thus 

put him in possession of Lhe revenues of his elder brother," &c; 

~nd, further, that "it was selected as one of IlIP. Res.olutions 

lItnoved in the House of ·Com~ons by Mr •• Dundas, on the 25th of 

April, 1782, where it was declared, 'That the Governor did, by 
menaces and harsh treatment, compel the Rajah Vizieram to employ 

• 
Sitteram Rnz as ' .. the manager of the Zemindary, in th~ room of a 

man of probity and good character; auf that tl;e gross ill-treat· 

ment he received at. the Prcside~cy was humiliating, unjust, ~nd 

cruc1, and highly derogatory to the int~rests of the East India 

Company) and to t he ~onour of tile .' British nat jon. "-. l\1:ILL'S 
. .. 

History, chap. iv., p. 104. . 

The words of Vizieram Raz, before the Board of Madras, when 

h~ was resisting theendeavQurs of the President that he should be 

l'eCO~ya. to his brother, fire repeated in the Report of the C~xn" 
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mittee of ~ecrecy, and cited by ~fr. Mill and other historians; but 

no notice has been taken of the remonstrance of tho elder brother. 

"Sitteram Raz requested to be allowed to represent some cir­

cumstances relative to his own situation, and proceeded as 
• 

follows :-

"For a c?nsiderabll' length of time I transacted e"ltirely the 

affairs of my brother's Government; and so much were we at that 

time upon a foo£mg of equality and brptherly affection, that it was 

never a question with me whether I a::tcd upon his account or my 

own. I took all the carc I could in the management of his 

oountry, and contributed to his welfare and happiness to the beet 

of my ability. I desire to be informed in what light 1 was to be 

considered, whether as the brother or servant of th(' Rajah. 

" PRESIDENT.-The Roard look upun you as his brother acting 

under him. 

"SITTERAM RAz.-I desire that the samr que~tion may be put 

to my brother. 

" V IZIEBAM RAz. - It is t.rue he is my brother; but he only 

held the management of my affairs during my.pleasure. 

~'QlfESTIONl/FROM THE BOARDi-Has SitterDm Raz ever dont! 

any!hing injurious or o~cnsive to you? 

"VIZIERA.M RAz.-lIe has taken away the Braminies maniams. 

"SITTERAM.-lf 1 have taken aw\y the muuiams, who has 

enjoyed the benefit arising from them? 

"VIZLERAM.RAZ.-~_'hey were received into my treasury. 

"SITTEBAM RAz.-I am sensible that J aggcrna'Jt Raz lIas 

contrived and worked up many falsehoods to 8ft me at variitnCe 

with m~ brothJr i but I desipe only that Vizieram Raz may declare 

what I have ever 4€Jne to injure him." 'Addressing his brother: 

-" Your annual revenues, at the 'time I too!{ the management of 

them, amounted to about seven lacs of rupees; and wIlen I gave 

up the management, I left you possessed of a reven~c nmotelting to 
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upwards of ~ twenty*two lacs. It generally llappens tbat persons 

acting,in so high a tmst, receive some benefit to themselves; but I 
never received 8!lY such advantage. 

"Vizieram Raz made no reply." • 
PRESIDEN'r'S MINUTE, AUGUST 18TH, 1778. 

"I am llUppy to acquaint the Hoard that a re.cpnciliation has. 

taken place between the two northern Rajahs; which I believe to .. 
be sincere ....... If I wan~rl l:wy circumstance to confirm me in the 

opinion I lad formed of 'be necessity of seniling .Tuggernaut Raz 

to Vizagnpatam, ...... the last letters reeci ved from that factory will 

sufficiently evince the propricty of the measure."--Evidences, pp. 

56-60. 

Thi8 account is taken from the case for the prosecution. 
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SIR THOMAS .RUMBOLD'S REIJl\TIONS WITH MR. REDHEAD. 

THE mattel"S explained in. the last chapter, 
which ended hapIJily for -the hrotl~rs, and 
favourably for the interests of the COlnpany, 
were attended bv an unfortunate circumstance, 

'" 
of which the Directors afterwards availed thenl-
selves, 'when desirous to ,vreak their anger upon 
Sir rrhomas Itulu hold. " We arc in I)Qssession 
of one fact," they say, "which, as far as it 
extends, seelns to, eOI.lvey an idea that the 
Zemindars 'were ahu':.;;ed, and their money misap­
pli(!d at the fJresiclency." 

The fact referred to 'vas, that Sir Thomas 
Rumhold h~d an intriguing' Secretary. Tha,t 
corruption extensively prevailed' in India "was 
,fell kno'wn to the ,Directors; hut it serveq their 
purpose in the present instance to infer the 
corruption of th@ master fro111 that of the 
servant. ~ .Ltn exalnination into the. inlputations 
which have been raise9,. agai~st Sir Thomas 
Rumbold, because of his official connexion with 
Mr. Redhead, follows naturally upon the xefu-
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tation of th~ third Gharge, and will prepare the 
way for dealing wit.h the' fourth ~ . 

The intrigues of Mr. Redhead were not com .. 
pleted, l~ut tlfe intention was snfficien.fJy clear. 
He had been for a short tilne the private Score .. . .. 
tary of Sir Tholnas Rumbold, but ,vas retained 
in that employrneJllt l)ut a fe,v luonths after he 
arrived at Madras: 'I'lic death of ~Ifr. Redhead 
took place shortly afterwards. A paper was 
found among his effects to thi s purport, that the 
ltajah (or Zmnindar) Sit.teranl l"taz I)romise.d to 

• i4 ". 

pay 1\Ir. l1edhead a considerable sum, on COD.-

dition of his assistance in obtaining several 
points, of ",·hich five were specified :-" 1. The 
appointment of Sitteram Raz to be in effect the 
Company's Duan, but tlH~ nominal one of l1is 
brother Vizieram. 2. The reconciltation -ot.the 
two l)rothers, Vizieram and Sitteram. 3 .. The 
confirrnation of the son of Sitteram as the 
adopted Rajah by a grant from the Board. 4: . 
The annexation of AncapillYtand Sitteram (two 
Zelnindaries) to Vizianagl'um. 5. The restitu­
tion of the fort at Vizianagrum to VizieramRaz" 
who had been disposse8~Bd of it by the-former 
Government. " 
... This pa:per ·was described as a translationo( 
an *lrigina) in tht' Gentoo lan2'uae:e. The DaUer··" 
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was unaftested, and not signed by lIr. Redtead. 
It might have been only ofl'ered by Sitteram an(l 
not accepted; but the executors of ~{r. Redhead 

deel11cd it sufficiently valid for '110m to Blake 

application for the' l>Uylllcnt. 'l'ho clahn was 
• 

denied. A suit ,vas then instituted in the 

Mayor's court at J\ladrns, ulxl a d('ci~ion gjvcn 

ill favour of' the CX{'\cutors, -but under circun'l­

stances 'which led to all appeal to the President 
and Council, 'who l'cversed the derision. 

Of the five points specified, the merits of the 
• 

first have bpen discussed; tht, two following 

,vere involved in that. .L\R to the fourth-the 
annexation of tho lauds *--t11c fal't is, that 
Vizier[un had a lllortgage upon tlWll1. It ,vas a 
debt of justice to hinl to pay the l~ortgage debi, 
or giye hiJn the rcall)ledg(\ The lease was 0111y 
to hhn, and hi'3 passion for the land relieved the 
Company frolu his d0nland as 1110rtgngc, and 

gave to thOln U}j increase of' revenue. It 'vas, 
iIi fact, a losing J)al'gain to Vizicrmn, excrpt 
that he obtained the use of Hie land in per­
petuity. 

Of the fifth point,-the restitution of the fort, 
. --it was at a :later pcrio'l, and when harmony 

* Evidences, p. 280. 



• 
MIt. REDHEAD. 'OJ. 

had l)een restored hetween the brothers, that 
, 

Viziermn Raz, as it is expressed in the" Report 
of the COl1uuittee of Secrecy," ",vas got into • good lnunour to petition for bj s fort." The 

justice and policy of granting this uotitiol1 are 

discussed in Sir 'rhOlIuts ltUlllbold's Answer to 
• 

the COlllnlittee ana Directors, in the .J.\PI)endix 
to this vohulle. 

'fhe coincidence of th(\se points ,vil 11 the deter­
Ininations of' i he Council 111ight have ,varranted 

suspi~ion, had tho nleaSUl'c.s heen new, or unjust, 

or only brought forward through the corrupt 

agreernent; but Sitteralll Raz ,vas found at 

1\1 adras, negotiatiug' with the Board, when Sir 

r:l'lH)Jnas ltum hold arriv0d there; and three of 

the points wert' rccorcled by thClll as approved, . . 
and desiraule to be oui ainccl. * 

The COlnnlittce of Secrecy had something fur .. 

ther to add on this case: which 'was adopted l)y 

the Bill, and is repeated hy 2\11'. Mill :t­
"Your C01111uiiJee find that the Chief and. 

Council of Vizugaputanl represented, that the 

practice had always bcpn to receive reports of 

oX< Second Itepm:t, p. 277. • ,. . 
t Sitteram Raz's Account Current with the Company. Appendix, 

Second Report, No. 54; '\UrI President's Report to the Board, 

No. ~4. 
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the charaoter and ability of those wh? propos~d 
for leases from them; and that they had heen 
much mortified in being overlooked in this in-

~ . 
stance; " ............ and also that, "on the 10th of 
AI>ril, abovt a Inonth after Sir Thomas RUIn. 

bold's arriva}, the gcntlcmpl1 of V izagapatanl 
acquainted the Presidency t~fat they had unde­
niable IJroof that a large SUU1, in 1110noy and 
g'rain, had been sent to SittOl'Unl Itnz at 1vladras . 

............ They represented the tenants as cruelly 

oppressed to nUl.ke up this ·sum; and ~tated the 
reason of their nlaldng this representation to be, 
that some of his arrears lllight be secured for 

the ComI>uny." 
In the first" l'('lH·l'scn.tation " cited, the Secret 

COlllllittee have fUl'uibhed ihe solution of the 

hostility Sir '~holnas Itumbc)ld met in 'his reform 

of tlris old" practice." 'rhe seconu representa­
tion 'was shown to rest on no proof whatever. 

Of the lalld in qn('stion Sitteram had l)eon in 
" 

possession only two· months; the proI)ortions of 

specie and grain were not specified; Madras 'was 
the market f'OI' grail1 fronl the Northern Cirears, 

• • 

and March the tinH~ for remittjng it. It must 
have been dispatched, jf at 'all, before Sir 'l~homas 

Rumbold's arrival; but, upon receiving this COIn ... 
munication, he, by the desire of the Board, ntade 
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application to Sitteram Raz, who denied the . ;~ 

allegations, but promitSed to provide immediately 
for his instalment; and this promjse, made 011 

• the 2,~th of April, was fulfilled on the' 1st of 
May ensuing. * 

This circunlstance rnust have 'been overlooked , 
by "the Committee of Secrecy;" they would'; 

• 
l10t otherwise have been led to afii.rm, that ." tit,e 

sante kind of pr'(nnise was accepted uy tlte Presi. 
dent ,in July, which laut been '1yutde, b'~d n,ot ob .. 

served, in April preceding." 

. Tltis second lJ'l"oJ1'ti8e was Ob8erljed as p1,(,1~ct-z"ally 
astlze first; and, bpfor-e the end of October follow­

in,g, the Ilajcth hael parid what was d'ue to the 

GOff/;pany. 

'.[1here was, moreover, found in the will of Mr. 
Redhead a~ assertion' that he had !eceiveCt from 
the Nabob of Arcot a promise of a lac of rupees. t 
No 'vritten order i'rolu the ,N aboh to that effect 

,appeared, and it, was not stated, that any su~h 
existed; neither was any date assigned to the 
promise,or any condition named. 

. . 
.. Appendix, Second Report, No. 54, Sitteram Raz, Account; 

'~ . 
Current with the COlll~any; and Pre1;:dtmt's. Report to the Board, 

No. 84. See also Evidences, p. .. ~70, 
t The executors were Mr. Petrie, an old servant of the Ens.t 

India Company, and Mr. Alexander l~rodie, then at Madras. lIe .•... . . 
\Vas the father of the late Dllche,ss of' Gordon. 
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; 

This verbal bargain was made to apply to the 

lease of the Jaghirc, which, according to the 
date of that lease, was granted unanimously by 

( 

the Council to the Nabob ahoyc a lllonth aftcr 
Mr. I~c<lhe[l.d had bpcn linal1y discarded, and Intd 

quitted the PDlployment of Sir '1'ho111U8 Rumbol<l. 
c 

Althoug·h the ~xeclli ors dtd not consider "the 
L , 

money to be due, since, hy memoranda in tho 
handwriting of Mr. l"tedhcad, they were ac­
quainted ,vith the conditions annexed to the 
promise, and knew that thpy had not been fnl­
ulled; yet, as a Inatter of fornl, advised by their 
lawyer, one of tho executors, ~{r. Brodie, stated 
the elaim made in the wjll to the Nahob of Areot. 
lle owned the J)1'O]n1s(', .but added, "It was on a 
condition unperfornlod." 

I'll tln'ee IJ-ng- exulninatiolls, evidence was given 
to the effect of ,diat has been last stated; ang, 
also, that ~£r. It<\dhead had heen recolnmendpu 
to Sir Tholuas Itumhold by General .J oseph 

t 

Smith, to whonl lIe had acted as Persian tran-
slator; that hp had since been in the service of 
the Nabob of Areot; tllat he had quitted him to 

proceed to Eng~and, in order to" further some of 
. 1 

tne Nabob's projects wtth regard tn Tanjore; 
that he returned to India in the ship with Sir 

Thomas Rumbold and the witness, Mr. Petrie j 
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that it was 'apparent to ,the latter,and confessed 
" 

then to him· by Mr. Redhead, as well as admitted 
in Mr. Redhea.d's subsequent correspondence,' 
that "he had n8t Sir Thomas Rumbold's conti • 

. dence;" and that this "breach" terminated in 
his being fLnally discarded from his office, early 
in l\.ugust following .• * 

Before this evid.~ce had heen heard, the· 
Counsel fqr the Bill had' disowned the inferred 
suspicion, by declaring, before the IIollse, that 
no iInputation of cOlnplicity ,,,]th the Secretary 
eould be cast upon Sir rrhonlas l'tumbold. This 
is noticed by Mr. IIar~~nge in "The Defence.'? 

More than once Mr. lIardinge had insinu~ted 
that, "'without prejudice to their zeal as advo­
cates, they had sometimes deserted their promp­
ter."· On this occasioJt-, Mr. IIardin~ cited tp.~ 
word~of, Mr. Cowper: "One of the Coun~el, 
with a manly concession,much to his honour, 

,', 

has told us that Mr.ltedhead's guilt was not Sir 
Thomas Rumbold's guilt; and. that no evidenc~ 

'<;;had connected them. He, too, was the Counsel 

* Private letters now existing in the PQssession of Sir Thomas 

Rtlmhola.'s famHy, written by him 011. his first landing at.J\1:aul'Lls, 

explain the cause of T,I1k-displeasure; and mention that Mr. Red­

, head was oilly retained' nQtninally-in his employment, and on his 

urging that it ,would he detrimental to him to be discllarged 
' abi~uptl,. . 
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who clbsed the evidenoe, and who told us that it 
was his peculiar province to mark which of the 
charges were proved, and in what manner, and 

to what extent they were sustai£.ed." * 
1.11'. Cowper's precise words before the IIouse, 

as recorded in his speech, were addressed tG Si.r 
Thomas Ru~bold as follow& :-" The honourable 
Baronet will understand ltJ.e as not saying that 
Mr. }tedhead's guilt is his guilt, or that Mr'. 
Redhead~s guilt is brought honle to hinl; but if 

it appeared upon the records of the Court that 
he was his Secretary, it behoved him, to extin­
guish every sl)ark of suspicion that might fall 
upon himself, to disclose this to the East India 

Cotnpany; but, till this inquiry took l>lace, no 
notice ,vhatever ,,-as taken by Sir Thomas Rurn­

bqld. of hi.J reversal of ~ the judgment of the 
Court." . 

It "was esta,blished, hO'wevcr, by evidence, that 

the Company's knowledge of this transaction 'vas, 
in the first l)lace, ~lerivcd from the cOlumunication 

of it to them l>y the Presidcnt, scnt in the usual 
course of the service; and that the proceedings 

of the. " apIJcllullt Jurisdiction" at Madras had 

been transmitted in the.first stlip th!l.t sailed for 

England. 

* Judge Hardinge's Defence, p. l~. 



}(It. REDHEA.D. 61 

The witness ·who &,ave this testimonywae 
asked by a member of the' House, " Where is th€ 
record of it P " 

I{is answer ~as: "In the India Honse." * 
Thus the last shadow of suspicion against Sir 

• 
Thomas in respect of Mr. Itedhead is dissipated • 

• 
:IIi M1nutes-.>f Evidence, p. 518. 

:r 2 



CHAPTER VI. 

THE E)fTENDED LEASE OF THE JAGHIRE LANDS. 

r 

By the extension to the c N ahob of Aroot of 
. (' 

the lease of the J'ughire lands from one year 
to three, the advantages obtained were, that 
the arrears of rent, anlounting to £90,000, 
which 'would prohably have been lost to the 
Company if the lands had been. taken out of 
the Nabob's hands, WC1!e insisted upon; and 
actually paid into the treasury. Also that new 
'and very advantageou~ conditions were imposed. 

The Nabob agreed to repair the tanks and 
water-cour~es, which had. fallen into decay, and 

III 

we~e greatly injured by late floods, so that now 

there were serious tiipprehensions of famine. 
These expensive works the state of the l\iadras 
treasury did not permit to be undertaken. . Very 
particular stipulations were made in favour of 
the weavers, who' principally d,welt there .; they 

r' , 

were <iobe ~xelnpt' from .t{txes, with other 
immunities. . Any n.ati:t'e,, being' oppressed, had 
liberty of appeal to the President and Council 
of Madras, who reserved to themsel ,,\]~S thee.power 
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of displacing the Nabob's agents. The rent 
was to be paid monthly; 'and, on failure' of 
one month, the Board would be at liberty to 
resume the Jag'hire, and to let it to whom they 
pleased. 

The strict observance of these eonqitions was 
secured by the last1 article of the 'lease, which 

• provided that the Oouncil should, at any time, 
send one or m.ore of the Company's servants to 
survey the lands, and to see that all the conditions 

, were strictly complied with. 
Hitherto there had been no regular covenants 

between the Nabob and the Company for lands 
, , 

leased to him, but simply agreements 'by letter. 
Lord Pig-ot had attempted a similar proceeding 
to that now adopt~d, but was opposed by his 
Council, who prevailed" against him. "rhe Nabob 
had been willing to continue the lease upon the 
old terms; but, a delay having occurred in the 
usual application, the President and Council took 

• advantage of it to ascertain more precisely what 
iralue might be set upon the lands, and to impose 
new conditions. At these th~ Nabob revolted, 
especially at the,. reparatio·n of tJ1e tanKs, the 
expense of which, he . said, could not be repaid . . '.' 
to hun under fiye years. 

,The. OOuOOil refu.sed to lease' for fi. ve years~ 
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• 
as the Nabob desired; but they consented to 'an 
extension of the lease from one to tliree ycars. * 
After drlTIUrring nearly three months, during , 
which three letters 'were written to ask his 
decIsion, his desire to I>ossess th(l land llrcvailed, 
and the Nabob acccI)tcd the conuiti()ns. 

In arraig~ing Sir 'rhOIDtiS Rumbold for this 
I 

lease, the Directors cnde::1"voured to rpprcsent 
that his fault was aggravated by their having 
declared the intention of taking the lands into 
their o,Yn hands. Although tlIp poliry of letting 
them to the Nabob at all had been a question 
much agitated, and cliJf{ll'ont opinions had boen 
expressed, the Directors, ,vldle willing to adrnit 
that more Illigitt he obtained fron1 the land if 
farmed by the Con1pany, had relinquished that 
contffigent l benoHt, assigning exprc'ssly as I their 
reason, that they 'v ere apprehensive "such a 
measure ,youJd alienate the N ahoh;" and also 
that it could not he ('arriad into effect "until 
t 

a plan should be settled for taking them into 
• 

their O"wn hands." No plan of this kind had 
been formed; und, at this time, vory cspe(~ial 

injunetio'ns hftd been given to the Council of 
Madras to conciliate the N aboh' on account of . 
the displeasure recently orcasioncd to him by 

• Evidenct's, pp. 314) 322, 323~ 
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the affair of Tanjore. * The Directors had 
'written to this effect: "As we wish by every 

possihle means to conciliate the mind of the, 

Nabob, our frieItd and ally, apparently disturl)ed 

by the late transactions, we haye herewith en-
• 

closed a letter to his flighness; t and we strictly 
enJoin upon our Ilt'('ii;iclent and Coul.wll to exert 

e· 

their utlnost endeav()urs to conciliate the affec-

tions of his IIighness and family; and to 1Je par .. 

tieularly careful ou no account or pretence to 
infringe any of his rights, privileges, or inlIDU­

nitiese .... We rely with the utlnost confidenCE:} 

on your affording hinl. every assistance in your 
power towards olnriating any difficulties, or re­

nloving- any elnbarrassments, in which his affairs ,,_.I t • 

may lunh:;tppily have been involvnd." t 
These injunctions vy.ould have lJ(j~il cntir~ly 

disregarded had this tilne been chosen to {lis­

IJossess the N aboh of the land; but the best 
comlnent upon the affair is, that the Directors 

confirlned, and aftervvurds rene,\red, tIle leasE!, 

having IH'ofited hy the terms, which the ext en .. 

*, :Evidences, pp. 307, 308. 

t Ibid., p. 311. 

t The Counsel fo"1' Sir Thcmns11urnhold desired to produce the 

le.tterfrorn the Dirf'ctors to the Nabob. This was objected to by 
theCoUl~el for t!le Bill. 
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'sion of the lease could alonehfi"te obtained for 
'them.· 

In the account of this transaction in tIle 
R~~)ort of the Committee of Sec1'ecy, the arrears 
of paym~nt due frOJn the Nabob are inserted 
'iDfmediately, after th~ statement of the lease 
granted to t:hiIn by the C(Yuncil of Madras, al. 
though it was kno,vn to (the framers ~tf the 

Reports that all arrears, with the current rel~t 
for all lands leased to him, hacl been obtained. t 

But, further than this, they produce a long 
extract from a ~linute fOflnerly given, in order 
"to show" (they say) '~that a difference had 

• Evidences, p. 309. 

t Thronghout the st'atemcnt made of this transaction in the 

Report of the Committee, the usual dishonestv prevails. The 

ren..t tll'3 Nabollengagcd to pay is there rated at 324,000 pagodas j 

but .this was exclusive of }Joonamalee, which formed part of the 

Jaghire lands, and, with this addition, the rent paid amounted to 

864,000 pagodas. 

Bnt, further, there were other offers to rent tlle land. One of. 
these o~ly proposed for the whole, and at a higher rent' than was 

offered by the Nabob. The Board, on giving consideration to this 
offer, found that no scoority was given but the previous mortgag"C 
of the la!'ds-~n question, ana that the repairs were to fall upon the 

Company. 

In the Report of the Committee the difference of the rent offered 

is" set forth, but the essential circumstances that at.tended it are 

suppressed. 
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taken place in the sentiments of the President 
on this latel' occasion." * Here they have merely 
left out the word "not," so as to change the 
whole meaningCof the sentence. They make the 
President say, "The Nabob has attended to the 

• 
repair of the tanks." If we turn to the Appendix, 
it will be seen his words were, "Tl~e N abo'L has 
not attended to the repair of the tanks." t 

• 
* Second Report, Appendix, No. 148. t Ibid.) No. 158. 
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THE }'OURTH CIIARGB. SIR THOJIA~ RlnmQI.D'S RELATION8 
• WITH MH. SADLIER 

AT the period of which 'we have to speak, 1\£1'. 
Sadlier ,vas at :l\iadras under rather humiliating 
disabilities, having been partially restored by the 

influence of Lord Pi got, aftcl' a suspen~ion from 

the ComI~any's service, for his conduet in a dis­

tant settl0111ent. It "~nB a special ohject in Sir 
'1'h01nas Itlunhold's instructions to restore the 

hal:mQllY th!tt had been so. sCl·.iously interrupted. 
This.ohject he cOllsilleI'ed 'would he I)l'o1l10ted l)y 
employing the talent.s and activit.y of' Mr. Sadlier 
as chief of J\Iasulipatanl, the situation being 

, 

tf!rnporarily vacant, rather than at :N.[adras; 

'while, at the saIne tinIo, he 111ight be a useful 

instrument of his voliey, in the check ,yhich he 

aimed at·t11e suhordin~te intr]~ucs. 1\1r. Sadlier 
" L • 

was all gratitude for ".:this protecti011 of him 
ftOlll the grossest calu n1 ny, " and he sent much 

useful information concerning the ~mindirs of 
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the district; but he gave the President also very 
prudential·auvicc, in order to deter him from his 
ol)ject. "Leave the subordinates to thcmselv(ls, 
else they ,vill cl'ake you answer for thClll; this 
very nwasure of calling the ZPluindars to ].,fadras 

• 
will give them a handle for sllch a turn in thoir 

favour. 1Vill not tho . ..cffect of fOI'lnernIUis111alHtg'c­

mont he laid to your (loor r If the s0ttlenlcnt is 
." 

on the u(\cline, ,voulll it not be prlldcl1t to leave 

the GOYernnlellt, hith(\rf6 eharged ,vith l'espon­

&ibility, to justify its HI(\:lSUres, to ,york out its 

ou.:n 9ni8.101~/uJl(>8, {furl bear 'lie Cr)lSlUY' it de .. 

• yerrfJS ? " In yielding: to these suggestions, Sir 
rrholnas Rlunl)old ·\Youl<1 fioul)tless have con .... 

suIted ld" personal caso, ,and escaped much of 
tho persecution to ,viliell he' ,vas after"wards 

exposC'd; hut he ,vonld have hetrny(M his tr-qst, 

and justly have incnrred the cc]}sure of \urying 
paid no attc'ntioll to another letter from Mr. 
Sadlier, of tho sanle dat<.\ professedly" ·written 
in confiuence."-" It Inny be destroyed." I'l1 
this letter, 'without any ('vidence produced, or 
hint from ,yhat quarter the~ accu!';ation canle, 

1\ir. Sadlier states the COl"t'\,pt cOlltlue;r...of four 
" servants of the COTIlpan.y hy nalu·c : -three ·were 

his prrdccessors at l\lasulipatanl; tile fourth was 
• 

the Govern\)r of Madras for the time being, ,vho 
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was accused of sharing the profits (on the DCea­

sion of the renewal of the tribute of the Zemin­
dars) with these subordinates. (. . 

It ,vas not pretended that these offences had 
been committed during the goveJ'nnwnt of Sir 

• 
Tholnas .Rum hold; the persons no longer filled 
those stations, and S0111e ~re in England. It 
must also be observed thai one of the pe.rsons 

. accused, (~{r. "\Vhitchill,) if not others, had been 
concerned in the fo~mer suspension of Mr. 
Sadlier from the Company's service. This con­
fidentialletter, which in the Report of the Com­
mittee is represented as." official intelligence," 
Sir Thomas Itulllbord did not conceive himself 
at liberty. to disclose. It was not, however, 

• 
neglected; he ventured with greater determina-
Hop. _ upon - tIle hazardous task or refol'ming 
abuses, without feeling himself justified in 
prudence -or iL llonour to direct his attack 
against persons. lIe stated, however, fairly and 
dIstinctly, tIle nature and consequences of the 
abuses to the Court of Directors, whose imnle­
diate duty it was -to institute an inquiry. The 
honour~~e Co~rt, how'cver, n<.~ver expressed the 
~ligh.test curiosity with r.espect to the persons by 
whom the abuses had been committed. 

The covenant which Sir Thoma~ Rumbold 
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entered into"with the Company, bound nim to 
disclose " offences of this uatut"e tkat slW1tld take 
place.H If he were guilty in not disclosing such 
as were I)ast, that, came to his know ledge, ho\v 
did ]\fr. Sadlier escape, who was bound by the . . 
sarno covenants, and had the opportunity or 
investigating the eVi(k?l~ce ? Yet, aft~r two yea,rs 
and, a half, when tho· secret was grown obsoleto 
in his keerJing, and Sir Tholnas Rumbold, with 
'v]} Olll he ,vas no longer on ternlS of amity, had 

left 1\{adras, and ~fI'. 1Vhitehill had been dis .. 
nlissed ill disgrace by the Council ~f Bengal, Mr. 
Sadlier delivers up the letter. It was not, how­
ever, unmutilated. In the fornl of an affidavit 
before the Mayor, he declared this to bo an exact 

~ . 
copy of ,vhat he had sent to Sir Thomas Rum-
bold; but it 'was found>, when compar& witl~ tb.e 
original, to vary in SaIne material points, and 
such as it \vas ilnportant to his reputation to 
sUPl)ress. , 

vVhen Mr.. Sadlier was rCllloved by a vote of 
the Board from the seat to \vhich he had suc­
ceeded at Sir rrholnas Ruml)old's departure, t~lis 

gentleman, distin.~uished i~ ihe ~epor't'""of the 
Oonunittee of Secrecy as. the "high.spirited Ilnd 
virtuous Mr. Sadlier),' 'nlade an offer tQ sell his 
int~grijy and.' public spirit. He told the Presi-
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dent tliat, if he could but be reinstated at the 
Board, he would hury the letter' in ohlivion. 
This offer was disregarded, and he forwarded 

the paper to the Secretary ofi.. the East India 

Compnuy.* 
.. A .. fe"r words must he added on the' subject of 

the Zemindars. 1\fr. Sa<1Jier endeavoured by 
every means to deter theln from accepting tho 
summons to ~Iadras, by t11)I>rizihg' them of the 
hard terms. that ,,"ould l)e imI)Osed upon 111en1 

there; and that the journey would be annual, 
which was never contemplated by any of the 
Board. Those ol)jectioll~, vvh5ch it is stated in 

the Itcport ,,-ere made hy thenl, ,yere found to 
be the very ,yol'ds I::l.uggcsted to them by Mr. 
Sadlier. t 

,The cirrllmstances of jhis case have been so 

far. cntered into on this accouut. It was one 

very strongly insisted upon in the Bill of Pains 
and Penalties. The exaggerated statements of 
the sums renlitted to I~ngland, and adopted by 
the Committee, were Inude by Mr. Sadlier; 

although it lllUY 1>0 observed, that he never 

attempt~d to shapc· one chargc on that score 

* See the Minute of the President, C. Smith. Evidences, 

pp. 298, 299. 

t Ibid., p. 232. 
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against Sir :Thomas Rumbold; · and to Mr. 
Sadlier was principally due the disunion of the 
Council of Madras, that had so fatal an influence 
on the early contiuct of the war. 


